
 

 

 

Children, Young People and 
Family Support Scrutiny and 
Policy Development Committee 
 

 
Thursday 24 January 2013 at 2.00 pm 
 
To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Gill Furniss (Chair), Rob Frost, Keith Hill, Talib Hussain, 
George Lindars-Hammond, Karen McGowan, Mohammad Maroof, Lynn Rooney, 
Colin Ross, Andrew Sangar (Deputy Chair), Nikki Sharpe, Clive Skelton and 
Stuart Wattam 
 
Education Non-Council Members 
Jules Jones, Gillian Foster, Paulette Kennedy, Joan Stratford and Alison Warner 
 
 
Substitute Members 
In accordance with the Constitution, Substitute Members may be provided for the 
above Committee Members as and when required. 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny Committee exercises an 
overview and scrutiny function in respect of the planning, policy development and 
monitoring of service performance and other general issues relating to learning and 
attainment and the care of children and young people within the Children’s Services 
area of Council activity.  It also scrutinises as appropriate the various local Health 
Services functions, with particular reference to those relating to the care of children. 
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday, or you can ring on telephone no. 2734552.  You 
may not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential 
information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Members of the public have the right to ask questions or submit petitions to Scrutiny 
Committee meetings.  Please see the Council’s website or contact Democratic 
Services for further information. 
 
Scrutiny Committee meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the 
Committee may have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked 
to leave.  Any private items are normally left until last.  If you would like to attend the 
meeting please report to the First Point Reception desk where you will be directed to 
the meeting room. 
 
If you require any further information about this Scrutiny Committee, please contact 
David Molloy, Scrutiny Policy Officer on 0114 2735065 or email 
david.molloy@sheffield.gov.uk. 
 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 



 

 

 

CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILY SUPPORT SCRUTINY AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA 

24 JANUARY 2013 
 

Order of Business 

 
1. Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements 

 
2. Apologies for Absence 

 
3. Exclusion of Public and Press 
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to exclude the press 

and public 
 

4. Declarations of Interest 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be 

considered at the meeting 
 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting of Committee held on 22nd 

November, 2012 
 

6. Public Questions and Petitions 
 To receive any questions or petitions from members of the public 

 
7. Call-in of the Cabinet Decision on the Redesign of the Early Years 

Service 
 Report of David Campbell-Molloy, Scrutiny Officer (Policy) 

 
8. Call-in of the Cabinet Decision on the Home to School Transport 

Policy 
 Report of David Campbell-Molloy, Scrutiny Officer (Policy) 

 
9. Annual Safeguarding Report 
 Report of the Interim Executive Director, Children, Young People and 

Families 
 

10. Date of Next Meeting 
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on Thursday, 28th March, 

2013, at 2.00 pm, in the Town Hall 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
New standards arrangements were introduced by the Localism Act 2011.  The new 
regime made changes to the way that members’ interests are registered and 
declared.   
 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 
• participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 

aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

• participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 
• leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 
• make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 

meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

• declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

•  Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or 
gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

  

•  Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests.  

  

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 2

•  Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner 
(or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority -  
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

  

•  Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority.  

  

•  Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a 
month or longer.  

  

•  Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
 - the landlord is your council or authority; and  

- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner,   
has a beneficial interest. 
 

•  Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  
 

 (a)  that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of your council or authority; and  

 
 (b) either  

- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  

- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your 
spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.  

 
 
Under the Council’s Code of Conduct, members must act in accordance with the 
Seven Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; 
openness; honesty; and leadership), including the principle of honesty, which says 
that ‘holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to 
their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 
protects the public interest’. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life.  

Page 2



 3

You have a personal interest where – 

• a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 

 
• it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 

are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 
Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously, and has been published on the Council’s website as a downloadable 
document at -http://councillors.sheffield.gov.uk/councillors/register-of-councillors-
interests 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Standards 
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Lynne Bird, Director of Legal Services on 0114 
2734018 or email lynne.bird@sheffield.gov.uk  
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



S H E F F I E L D    C I T Y     C O U N C I L 
 

Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 

 
Meeting held 22 November 2012 

 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Gill Furniss (Chair), Keith Hill, Talib Hussain, 

George Lindars-Hammond, Karen McGowan, Mohammad Maroof, 
Lynn Rooney, Colin Ross, Andrew Sangar (Deputy Chair), Nikki Sharpe, 
Clive Skelton, Stuart Wattam and Diana Stimely (Substitute Member) 
 

 Non-Council Members in attendance:- 

 
 Jules Jones, Education Non-Council Voting Member 

Gillian Foster, Education Non Council Voting Member 
Alison Warner, Education Non-Council Voting Member 
 

 
   

 
1.  
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

1.1 An apology for absence was received from Councillor Rob Frost and Councillor 
Diana Stimely attended the meeting as the duly appointed substitute. An apology 
for absence was also received from Paulette Kennedy. 

 
2.  
 

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

2.1 No items were identified where resolutions may be moved to exclude the public 
and press. 

 
3.  
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

3.1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
4.  
 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

4.1 The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 25th October 2012 were 
approved as a correct record. 

 
5.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
 

5.1 There were no public questions or petitions. 
 
6.  
 

EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT 2011/12 
 

6.1 James White introduced a presentation outlining the latest provisional results in 
relation to educational attainment in the City. The presentation comprised two 
main areas, firstly the results for children aged 5-16 and, following this, the 
performance of vulnerable groups in the City. 

  

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 22.11.2012 

Page 2 of 6 
 

6.2 Also attending the meeting for this item was Iain Peel (Assistant Director, 
Inclusion and Learning). 

  
6.3 Members asked a number of questions and responses were received as follows:- 
  
 • The new criteria for children eligible for free school meals for a six year period 

would be measured in the future and were not included within the results 
presented.  

  
 • The recent Government White Paper had been clear that the role of the Local 

Authority was the commissioning of high quality places and championing 
performance outcomes. The role no longer focused on providing support but to 
challenge schools or the fourth sector. 

  
 • The Local Authority would ensure that the improved results for 2012 would not 

lead to complacency. Discussions were still being held with secondary schools. 
Individual support would continue to be brokered with individual schools where 
required. Discussions were being held with governing bodies about outcomes 
and different areas of support were being signposted. The main difference was 
that the Local Authority was no longer the provider. 

  
 • The floor standard would likely increase by 2015 to 50%. The uplift in Key 

Stage 4 results masked the problem that some traditionally high performing 
schools were moving the wrong way downwards to a floor standard which was 
moving upwards.  

  
 • There had been recent changes made to the inspection framework and there 

was no such thing as satisfactory anymore. Anything not categorised as good 
required additional measures to be implemented although the category 
‘Requires Improvement’ was not an OFSTED category of concern. 

  
 • The issue of positive challenge for governors was key and easy to understand 

information would be sent to governors as well as top 10 questions which a 
governor may like to ask to gain an understanding of the reasons for 
performance. 

  
 • There was no lesser expectation for any pupil in the system. Every child was 

expected to make at least two levels of progress in the primary phase and three 
levels of progress at the secondary stage. However, it was recognised that not 
every child may reach the expected level for their age. Attainment in terms of 
threshold correlated with deprivation. 

  
 • Differences in performance between primary and secondary could be because 

of the more diverse curriculum at secondary level. At the primary stage pupils 
had the same teacher throughout and there was less range in terms of what 
was expected. The practice within secondary teaching was more variable as 
was the case across the country. 

  
 • It was hoped that the impact of the pupil premium would be reflected in the 

narrowing of the gap at key stage 4 within the next couple of years. 

Page 6



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 22.11.2012 

Page 3 of 6 
 

  
 • It was worthwhile to examine OFSTED reports alongside attainment results to 

assess a school’s performance. However, schools were not inspected every 
year. 

  
 • The foundation stage showed the most extreme differences in terms of 

performance. This stage had the highest performance levels but also the widest 
gap. It was clear that if success was achieved with a child at ages 3-5 this 
would make things easier moving forward. 

  
 Members made a number of comments as follows:- 
  
 • The results were encouraging and showed the consistent approach of the Local 

Authority and maintaining strategies was beginning to show successful 
outcomes. 

  
 • Comparing the performance of local authorities across the country was often 

problematic due to the different socio-economic bases of local authorities. 
  
 • What made a difference in Sheffield was that that the City truly cared about the 

importance of a child’s education and that was not always the case elsewhere. 
  
 • Improving performance was not an overnight process and the upturn in the last 

four years was unprecedented. However, there was no room for complacency 
and similar improvements should be expected in 2013. 

  
 • Schools had reported very positive feedback about the quality of the data 

released and the accessibility of the information. 
  
6.4 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 
  
 (a) noted the information received; and 
  
 (b) requested that the thanks of the Committee be extended to officers for the 

interventions undertaken which had led to the improved results in educational 
attainment in 2012. 

 
7.  
 

EVERY CHILD IN EDUCATION EVERY DAY 
 

7.1 The Deputy Executive Director, Children Young People and Families submitted a 
report providing an update on the “Every Child in Education Every Day” strand of 
work which was ensuring that the Council were regularly addressing the key 
issues relating to behaviour and attendance across the City, at both an 
operational and strategic level. The report also highlighted the relationship 
between current policy in relation to the number of exclusions across the City and 
the function of Sheffield’s Pupil Referral Unit which was named “The Sheffield 
Inclusion Centre”. 

  
7.2 Attending for this item was Alena Prentice (Assistant Director, Inclusion and 

Learning Services). 

Page 7



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 22.11.2012 

Page 4 of 6 
 

  
7.3 Members asked a number of questions and officers responded as follows:- 
  
 • The Attendance Strategy was now published on the Council’s website and a 

report would be submitted to Cabinet in due course. 
  
 • Many of those pupils included in the number of pupils referred to the Pupil 

Referral Unit had undertaken a Vocational Skills Programme from between 1-
3 days and were doing the work as part of a package of core skills outside of 
school. The programme was subject to its own quality assurance and 
attendance monitoring. 

  
 • In relation to academies, the Council’s role was being an advocate and 

champion for all young people. Where it was suspected that the Council 
needed to intervene the issue could be referred to the Education Funding 
Body.  

  
 • The role of governors was key and they needed to be provided with the tools 

to challenge the effectiveness of schools. The Local Authority needed to 
provide further training and information for governors to enable them to 
handle challenging behaviour and monitor attendance levels. 

  
 • There had often been an over reliance on the use of supported transfers 

through the pupil referral unit. Variable practice existed across the City and it 
was important to share good practice where appropriate. 

  
 • There was a correlation between poor attendance levels at the foundation 

stage and challenging behaviour at key stage 4 level. 
  
 • A child’s attendance at school was primarily the role of the parent. It was 

important for the Local Authority to engage with parents on this issue and to 
remind parents of their responsibilities. Schools also had a proactive role and 
the first key point in the attendance strategy was the school’s own 
management of attendance. 

  
 • When the school’s attempts to resolve problems with a pupil’s attendance 

level had reached an end the engagement of multi-agency teams was crucial 
and they needed to look at the issue from a whole household approach. 

  
 • The role of the Local Authority was to target support for schools and to ensure 

schools were setting targets for attendance. 
  
 • The issue of whether a pupil’s absence was authorised or unauthorised was 

for the school to determine. 
  
 • Absence due to religious absence was currently recorded as authorised but it 

was felt that this should be marked as not required to attend as it was with 
Christian holidays. 

  

Page 8



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 22.11.2012 

Page 5 of 6 
 

 • There was a strong presumption against taking holidays in term time. 
However, it was the school’s decision whether to mark such holidays as 
authorised and it was important to consider the context of the pupil when 
reaching a decision on this. 

  
 • The reason for at least 2/3 of absences was due to illness. However, the most 

serious category was persistent absence. There had been a high level of 
school to school transfers which needed to be addressed and the school had 
a role in this by effectively engaging with the parent. 

  
 • A triage process had been established which worked as an internal filtering 

process to look at each individual case and establish whether the parent had 
agreed the transfer. The parent would be contacted to establish the rationale 
for the transfer. It was important to minimise the level of disruption for pupils 
at this stage. 

  
 • The role of the pupil premium was to support educational outcomes and uses 

such as to pay for transport for a child unable to afford bus fares were 
acceptable. There had been an increasing scrutiny of schools to account for 
how they spent the pupil premium. 

  
 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 
  
 (a) notes and endorses the Every Child in Education Every Day strategic work 

and its commitment to raising standards across the City by focussing on access 
to appropriate action for some of its most vulnerable groups of children; 

  
 (b) supports the establishment of the Behaviour and Attendance Partnerships; 

and 
  
 (c) requests that the guidance on authorised and unauthorised absences be 

circulated to Members of the Committee. 
  
 
8.  
 

POLICY UPDATE 
 

8.1 David Molloy, Policy Officer (Scrutiny) provided Members with a detailed overview 
of several key policy updates, including; 

  
 • Repeal of the duty on OFSTED to conduct an annual Children’s Services 

Assessment of each local authority in England; 
 • Record numbers of men teaching in primary schools – but more still needed; 
 • Prime Minister: More new Free Schools than ever before to raise standards and 

increase choice; 
 • Views sought on which 2 year olds should get free early education; 
 • £10 million literacy catch-up programme for disadvantaged pupils; and 
 • Return of the Office of Children’s Commissioner 
  
8.2  He also referred to a recent Motion agreed by Council that a Joint Committee 

Page 9



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 22.11.2012 

Page 6 of 6 
 

would be arranged between this Committee and the Economic and Environmental 
Wellbeing Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee to examine the University 
Technical College and what support could be provided to the College. Provisional 
dates for this meeting had been agreed by the Chair’s of the Committee’s and 
these would be circulated for Members who wished to take part. 

  
 RESOLVED: That the report be noted. 
 
9.  
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

9.1 It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Thursday 
24th January 2013 at 2 pm in the Town Hall.    

 

Page 10



 1

 
 

 
 

 
Subject: Call-In of Cabinet Decision on the Redesign of Early Years 

Service 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: David Campbell-Molloy, Policy Officer (Scrutiny)   
 0114 27 35065 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:   

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision  x 

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee  

Other  

 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Background  
 
1.1 The Executive Director, Children Young People and Families Service 

submitted a report to Cabinet on 12th December 2012,  setting out in 
principle the proposals to redesign early years services in Sheffield. The 
report is attached at appendix A. 

 
1.2 Cabinet approved in principle:  
 

(a)   the proposed redesign and streamlining of the organisational 
structure in early years services in order to maximise access to 
high quality learning and health services with the resources 
available; 

 
(b)   the proposed action plan for a quality improvement programme 

for all early years settings; 
 

(c)  the proposed reorganization of the management and co-
ordination of 36 Children’s Centres into 17 Children’s Centre 
Areas;   

 

Report to Children, Young People & Family 
Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 

Committee 
24 January 2013  

Agenda Item 7

Page 11



 2

(d) the proposal that existing contracts with providers (due to end in 
March 2013) are not renewed where services are no longer 
required or funding is not available, while, at the same time, 
specifications for procurement of new targeted services will be 
developed 

 
(e) the proposed cessation of grants to 16 childcare providers in the 

private, voluntary and independent sector and 4 in the statutory 
sector;  

 
(f) the proposed reduction and transfer of the maintained childcare 

provision; and, 
 
(g) notes (i) the proposed further communication and consultation to 

be carried out on the Early Years Review and (ii) that a further 
report will be submitted to Cabinet in February 2013 on the 
outcome of the consultation. 

 
1.3 As per Part 4, section 16 of Sheffield City Council’s Constitution, this 

decision has been called in, preventing implementation of the decision 
until it has been considered by the relevant Scrutiny Committee.  

 
1.4 The Call-In notice is attached at appendix B, and asks the Children, 

Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee to consider this issue in further detail for the following 
specified reasons: 

  

• Concerns about the impact on a wide range of Early Year 
providers 

• Wide public interest in this issue, and 

• Concerns over the extensiveness of the consultation process 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
2 The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
 

As per the Scrutiny Procedure Rules, scrutinise the decision made by 
Cabinet and take one of the following courses of action: 
 

(a) refer the decision back to the Cabinet for reconsideration in the 
light of recommendations from the Committee; 

 
(b) request that the decision be deferred until the Scrutiny Committee 

has considered relevant issues and made recommendations to 
Cabinet; 

 
(c) take no action in relation to the called-in decision but consider 

whether issues arising from the call-in need to be added to the 
work programme of an existing Scrutiny Committee;  

 
(d) if, but only if (having taken the advice of the Monitoring Officer 

and/or the Chief Finance Officer), the Committee determines that 
the decision is wholly or partly outside the Budget and Policy 
Framework, refer the matter, with any recommendations, to the 
Council after following the procedures in the Budget and Policy 

Page 12



 3

Framework Procedure Rules 
_________________________________________________________ 

 
Background Papers:  
Report of the Executive Director, Children Young People and Families Service, 
to Cabinet on the 12th December 2012 (attached) 
Call-in Notice (attached) 
 
Category of Report: OPEN  

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL 
Cabinet Report 

Report of:  Executive Director, Children Young People and Families Service
______________________________________________________________ 

Date:   12 December 2012
______________________________________________________________ 

Subject: Redesign of Early Years Services 
______________________________________________________________ 

Author of Report: Julie Dale/ Julie Ward 
______________________________________________________________ 

Summary:  This paper sets out in principle the proposals to redesign early years 
Services in Sheffield. If approved, these proposals will form the Early 
Years Strategy. 

__________________________________________ 
Reasons for Recommendations:  
The purpose of this report is to inform Members and seek approval in principle for 
proposals to redesign and streamline early years services in Sheffield in order to 
make savings in management, administration and premises costs whilst maintaining 
universal, early intervention and family support services that are flexible, accessible 
and of high quality. This is the next phase in the development, which builds on the 
consultation and proposals that formed the conclusions of the Early Years Review.   
The size, depth of the savings proposed and the timescale are as a result of the 
severe Government cuts to funding and changes in Government Strategies for early 
years.  Due to these changes the Council will concentrate on being the Champion 
and advocate for children and families, will have an increased focus on 'uptake', 
quality assurance and value for money. 

Recommendations: Members are asked to approve in principle; 

o The proposed redesign and streamlining of the organisational structure 
in early years services in order to maximise access to high quality early 
learning and health services with the resources available. 

o The proposed action plan for a quality improvement programme for all 
early years settings. 

o The proposed reorganisation of the management and co-ordination of 
36 Children’s Centres into 17 Children’s Centre Areas 

o The proposal that existing contracts with providers (due to end in March 
2013) are not renewed where services are no longer required or 
funding is not available. At the same time specifications for 
procurement of new targeted services will be developed. 

04/12/2012 
 1

Page 15



04/12/2012 
 2

o The proposed cessation of grants to 16 childcare providers in the 
Private Voluntary and Independent sector and 4 in the statutory sector. 

o The proposed reduction and transfer of the maintained childcare 
provision

__________________________________________________________
Background Papers:  

  The Review of Early years and Multi Agency Services 0-5 
2012 incorporating a summary of the Review of Early 
Years and 0-5 multi agency services consultation 

  Draft Children’s centre programme 

  Draft Childcare strategy 

  Draft Quality improvement programme 

  Draft LA Maintained Sector Childcare Provision (Young 
Children’s Centres) 

Category of Report: OPEN
Statutory and Council Policy Checklist 

Page 16



04/12/2012 
 3

Financial Implications 

 Cleared by: Patricia Phillipson

Legal Implications 

 Cleared by: Nadine Wynter

Equality of Opportunity Implications 

 Cleared by: Bashir Khan

Tackling Health Inequalities Implications 

YES

Human rights Implications 

NO:

Environmental and Sustainability implications 

YES

Economic impact 

YES

Community safety implications 

NO

Human resources implications 

YES –Cleared by Kath Selman 

Property implications 

YES

Area(s) affected 

ALL

Relevant Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Cllr Jackie Drayton

Relevant Scrutiny Committee if decision called in 

CYPF

Is the item a matter which is reserved for approval by the City Council?    

YES/NO

Press release 

YES

Page 17



04/12/2012 
 4

1. Summary 

1.1  The purpose of this report is to inform members of and seek approval in 
principle for proposals to redesign and streamline early years services in 
Sheffield. Final plans for the children’s centres will be informed by the outcome 
of consultation. This is the next phase of the proposed development of 
strategy as a result of the early years review; however the scale, depth and 
timeframe are as a result of the severe reduction in funding. The Council will 
have an increased focus on quality assurance and value for money. 

1.2 Background

1.2.1 The funding available for early years services has reduced over the past two 
years and Sheffield City Council is expecting a further £6.8 million reduction to 
the Early Intervention Grant in 2013/14.  The funding allocated to local 
authorities previously through the Early Intervention Grant (EIG) will now form 
part of the Revenue Support Grant which is facing further reductions in 
2014/15. Free Early Learning Funding will be transferred to the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG). 

1.2.2 Therefore within this context, in 2011 there was a review of Sheffield’s early 
years and multi-agency support services from pre-birth to early education. As 
part of the review extensive consultation took place with parents and users of 
the service and this has informed the redesign proposals to meet the needs of 
modern lifestyles and vulnerable families. This report outlines a substantial 
change programme for the early year’s sector following the outcome of the 
consultation.

1.2.3 Both the reduction in Government Funding and the outcome from the 
consultations in the review have informed this report on the proposed redesign 
and streamlining of Sheffield’s early years services.  

1.3 The Strategic Vision 

1.3.1 Our ambition for Sheffield is that every child, young person and family 
achieves their full potential by raising expectations and attainment and 
enabling enriching experiences. The Lead Member has given a strong 
commitment to high quality early years services with a key focus on school 
readiness and closing the equalities gap at the end of the foundation stage. 
This will be achieved by ensuring that “every school is a great school”, “every 
child, young person and family is safe healthy and strong”, “all young people 
are active, informed and engaged” and “every child has a great start in life”, 
which will mean access to; 

  High quality play, learning and support. 

  Early health services 

  Local services for all the family delivered through a whole household 
approach

  Flexible, accessible and affordable childcare

Page 18



04/12/2012 
 5

  Timely interventions and support when needed. 

1.3.2 We believe that providing parenting advice and support and early interventions 
will improve outcomes for young children and their families with a particular 
focus on the most disadvantaged, so children are equipped for life and ready 
for school no matter what their background or family circumstances. Evidence 
shows that development during the early years of a child’s life lays an 
essential foundation for progress through out life, this impacts on families’ 
ability to access education and improve their employment opportunities and 
life chances. 

1.4 How will the Vision be achieved? 

1.4.1 Our approach will focus on organisations working in partnership and 
demonstrating commitment to this vision which will maximise positive 
outcomes in communities, and lead to improved universal services and 
better targeted resources As a result of the reduction in resources 
available the strategic vision will be more difficult to achieve. 

1.4.2 This report reflects the proposed changes necessary to redesign and 
streamline the service with the reduced funding available and will focus on; 

  Confirming the role and responsibility of the local authority as an 
advocate and champion for children and families. 

  Changing the local authority role from a main delivery role to a quality 
assurance one. 

  Providing information, advice and guidance to providers and families. 

  Managing the statutory responsibilities and priorities 

  Managing the change process to ensure services are more flexible, 
accessible, locally available and targeted 

  Achieving better value for money by procuring good quality services at 
the most economically advantageous price. 

  Promoting and ensuring best practice through collaboration. 

1.4.3 Redesign Principles

 To ensure accessibility of services – Our key partners are critical to the 
effectiveness of multi agency working and the delivery of flexible services 
within localities. Planning of prevention and early intervention services will 
take place within local areas and across partner organisations to include 
the implementation of the children’s centre core purpose. (Appendix 1 
sets out the core purpose). NHS Sheffield and Public Health play a 
central role in the delivery of these prevention and early intervention 
services, with health visitors and midwifes in a key role. Therefore joint 
planning and commissioning of early health and support with our NHS 
partners will be a key feature in the future development of services. This 
will be supported by the City Council’s procurement process which will 

Page 19



04/12/2012 
 6

deliver a broad range of family support services. This will allow the Private 
Voluntary and Independent sector (PVI) the opportunity to participate in 
planning and delivery. 

 To drive up quality of provision with a focus on children’s readiness 
to learn – There will be a standard benchmark of quality in the delivery of 
early learning and childcare services. We will continue to support the early 
years workforce and ensure that every setting knows what high quality play 
and best practice look like in an inclusive setting which can support the 
needs of children from diverse communities and with special needs. There 
will be investment in early reach and engagement within the redesigned 
children’s centre areas for hard to reach families and children not currently 
attending pre-school. The statutory duty carried out by the local authority 
will be achieved through a robust childcare sufficiency assessment which 
will inform and facilitate the childcare market and be closely monitored to 
ensure all settings in receipt of Free Early Learning (FEL) grants provide 
best value for money and high quality environments. Further information 
will be available in background papers. 

 To improve efficiency and make savings on management, 
administration and premises costs– It is proposed to redesign and 
streamline the existing 36 children’s centres into 17 children’s centre areas, 
taking into account the levels of need, historic patterns of usage, existing 
locations and the use of other Local Authority and community buildings 
across the city. (Appendix 2 details new areas). There will be efficiency 
gains from the multiple use of buildings, sharing facilities and resources. 
Management and administrative staffing structures will be reduced and 
services delivered at point of need. Families will be able to access flexible 
services; including electronic and face to face communication dependant 
on need. Resources will be targeted to the most vulnerable families and 
there will be more opportunity for partnership working across the statutory 
and voluntary agencies. It is important to state that this is not reducing the 
number of sites and buildings where services are delivered. It is about how 
the service is managed and allows us to ensure that at far as possible we 
are delivering savings on management costs and not the front line 
services. Where as before we had 36 registered children’s centre areas 
coming with management and administration costs we are reducing this to 
17, but we will have services delivered in the same number of areas across 
the city it is just the categorisation and organisation of this that is changing.

1.5 The strategic vision makes a direct contribution to the ‘Standing Up for 
Sheffield’, Corporate Plan 2011-14 by delivering the best possible use of our 
limited resources to meet the needs of Sheffield children and families.  The 
plan requires that we only invest in efficient flexible and accessible services 
that children and families really need and we need to make sure that we are 
targeting our support at the people and families that need it most - whoever 
they are and wherever they live.

Page 20



04/12/2012 
 7

1.6  This is part of the Council’s wider vision for ‘Successful Children and Young 
People, Safe Healthy and Strong Families’ and the key imperatives of tackling 
poverty and improving health and wellbeing.  If agreed, the implementation of 
the proposals will enable a step change to be made in the 
way that children and families experience high quality early health, education 
and childcare. 

1.7  This vision must be delivered within one of the most challenging funding 
settlements ever for children.  The Government has indicated its intention to 
severely cut back the early intervention grant, which currently funds children’s 
centres, while providing extra funding through the schools grant for free early 
learning places for disadvantaged 2 year olds.  The changes in funding also 
mean that there is no longer any identifiable funding for childcare sustainability 
and this will become more challenging as we roll out 2 year old free early 
learning places and develop more flexible services (not just term time). 

2.  What does this mean for the People of Sheffield 

2.1 Despite recent funding cuts, families will be able to access good quality 
services locally, (within a reasonable distance from their home). 

  All three and four year olds will still be able to access 15 hours of free 
nursery education. 

  More two years olds from disadvantaged areas will access free early 
learning that will give them a better start in life and more generally 
families from low income households will be able to access the full 
range of children centre services.

  Services will be accessible and flexible to meet modern family lifestyles 
in convenient locations where families want to access them. 

  Information will be accessible through the channels families want when 
they need it. 

  Services will be delivered more efficiently ensuring that resources meet 
the needs of families at the point when they are needed. 

  There will be better integration of services supported by the 
development of a family Common Assessment Framework (CAF) and 
integrated screening which will; 
  reduce inequalities in child development and school readiness 
  improve parents aspirations, self esteem and parenting skills 
  improve child and family health life chances 

  There will be a clear strategy for communication with parents and those 
key partners involved in developing services for early years will 
contribute to the planning and evaluation of services. 

  We recognise that families will need to be supported through this period 
of change to early years services. Local forums and networks will be 
engaged and accessible to ensure that any impact will be minimal.  

Page 21



04/12/2012 
 8

3. Outcomes and sustaining the future of early years services.  

3.1 It is essential that the services provided across the city will become more 
effective through  joint planning and commissioning arrangements with key 
partners  to provide a more creative and flexible approach to different ways of 
working. This includes shared use of resources to ensure that the needs of 
vulnerable families are met through the CAF and MAST process. There will be 
a commitment to listening to and responding better to parents and planning 
and delivering services in the new Children’s Centre Areas and communities.
Working together with our partners from health and the Private Voluntary and 
Independent sector and by developing solutions together we aim to improve 
the effectiveness of universal services, thereby reducing the need for families 
to have to access specialist services. 

3.2 The procurement process will identify organisations able to deliver the 
required good quality services at the most economically advantageous price, 
in line with Best Value Guidance. This will enable all providers to have the 
opportunity to participate and invest in their future sustainability and 
development of services aligning with the Government’s aim to help the 
voluntary and community sector shift from a reliance on central and local 
council grant based funding to be able to compete in open markets. Service 
performance will be managed through the Council’s contract management 
processes that will ensure fairness and stronger accountability. 

3.3 There is also a strong emphasis on improving the quality and flexibility of early 
learning through high quality play and childcare, thereby ensuring that all 
children have access to excellent early development, improving their 
readiness to learn at school age. Sharing expertise across early years settings 
will enhance partnership working and benefit families. 

4.  Proposed Plans  
   

4.1   The redesign and reorganisational structure of children’s 
centre areas

4.1.1 Children’s centres are defined in the Childcare Act 2006 as a place or group of 
places:

   which is managed by or on behalf of the local authority to secure that 
early childhood services are available in an integrated way  

  Through which early childhood services are made available –either on 
site or providing assistance on gaining access to services elsewhere 

  At which activities for young children are provided on site 

4.1.2 Given the level of funding reduction it is our intention to reorganise the 
children’s centre areas by taking into account the management, co-ordination 
and delivery of services. This includes analysis of levels of need, historic 
patterns of usage and the location and usage of other public buildings within 

Page 22



04/12/2012 
 9

the City Council’s capital portfolio. Making savings to management, 
administration and premises costs will ensure that funding is directed more 
towards frontline delivery of services rather than the organisation of centres 
which will impact on achieving better outcomes for children and reduce 
administrative costs. 

4.1.3 It is proposed that the existing 36 children’s centres will be reorganised into 17 
designated children’s centre areas with outreach venues in every area. The 
outreach venues could be Schools, GP surgeries, community buildings or 
libraries.  It is the duty of the Local Authority to remain the accountable body 
for the 17 Children’s Centre areas. 

4.1.4 The local authority’s responsibility will be to continue with robust management 
and governance arrangements and co-ordination of Children’s Centre Area 
Forums in order to embed this reorganisation of areas. This will include 
monitoring and evaluation of services to ensure that they are high quality, 
flexible, responsive to local need, meet Ofsted requirements and inform future 
planning. A procurement process for support services will be developed. 

4.1.5 The proposed new areas will, where appropriate, develop; 

  Shared management facilities, functions and resources

  Shared planning of services within and across boundaries 

  Shared staff development, training and good practice  

  Children’s Centres Area Forums 

4.1.6 There will be increased benefits for children and families including; 

  More flexible, innovative services where families need them 

  Improved reach and registration of the most vulnerable families  

  Guaranteed “good quality” settings 
  Better use of community assets 
  Services driven by local needs 
  Ability to monitor impact 
  Economic and social benefits to families 
  Provides a more accessible service for families including foster carers 

and where appropriate support contact arrangements between looked 
after children and their parents. 

  Ability to link flexible childcare support for parents/carers in Education, 
Training and Employment. 

4.1.7   There will be improved partnership working in order to; 

  Make decisions about sufficiency of provision in consultation with Public 
Health and NHS Sheffield, Jobcentre Plus and other Children’s Trust 
partners, PVI Providers, schools, local families and communities.

  Determine the best arrangements locally taking account of local 
communities and needs.  Value for money and the ability to improve 

Page 23



04/12/2012 
 10

outcomes for all children, but especially the most disadvantaged, will be 
important guiding considerations. 

  Make resources available to facilitate services, in particular to support 
target groups and address the inequalities gap across the City. 

  Establish forums in each children’s centre area and link into the wider 
community networks to give a broader picture of the area to inform 
planning of services. 

4.1.8 A full review of the reach areas of the centres based on the most up to date 
data available has been undertaken. It needs to be recognised that there will 
be efficiency gains from reorganising the centres and aligning them with other 
service delivery units. However it will be necessary to decommission a number 
of the existing children’s centres, these may become outreach sites. In the 
majority of cases children who are suffering from the effects of deprivation are 
within the most deprived reach areas and will be able to access the full service 
offer. The small numbers of children suffering from effects of deprivation living 
in the least deprived areas, will be targeted by the centres in their areas 
through outreach work and linked sites. The reach area numbers appear very 
large in the most affluent areas of the city, but following analysis of historic 
usage, and parental preferences, the City Council are confident that they can 
meet the needs of these parents through the development of services in linked 
sites and other public buildings such as libraries. This reflects how service 
delivery has evolved in these areas.  

4.1.9 At this time it is recognised that the Local Authority is in the best position to 
continue to develop and shape the management and coordination of the 
children’s centres.

4.1.10 There will be little impact on current service delivery to parents, and it is 
essential that we increase the registration and reach to the most vulnerable 
families. There will be an increase of outreach services and early intervention 
services delivered when families need them. 

4.1.11 OFSTED as the regulatory body for children’s centre inspections will need to 
be informed of the proposed changes.  They have already announced that 
they are moving to a locality based approach to children’s centre inspection. 
This will mean that inspections are carried out at the locality level rather than 
separate inspections of individual centres and their individual reach areas. 
Ofsted is currently consulting on the new inspection framework which will be 
rolled out to all children’s centre inspections from April 2013. The results of 
this consultation will be considered as part of the process to implement the 
proposed changes. 

Page 24



04/12/2012 
 11

4.2 Development of a procurement process for the delivery of 
high quality support services 

4.2.1 It is our intention to redistribute resources which currently support universal 
services to a targeted approach in order to meet the needs of the most 
vulnerable families with a view to driving up quality and providing best value 
for money. We intend to consult through the Multi Agency Allocation Meetings 
(MAAMS) in localities, on what future services will be required to meet 
families’ needs. A service specification for family support services will be 
developed in preparation for procurement. Current contracts will not be 
renewed and will be part of the transition to a new commissioning framework. .

4.2.2  We propose to procure a range of support services which will include putting 
in place a framework contract to provide opportunities for smaller voluntary 
and community organisations to participate in delivering services along with 
larger organisations and charities that specialise in working with complex 
families.

4.2.3   The specifications for support services will reflect the City Council’s whole 
family approach and the needs of the 0-19 age range and will incorporate 
procurement of services to support the building successful family’s initiative. 
There will however be an increased focus on vulnerable families with children 
under 5.

4.3  Childcare 

4.3.1 In Sheffield, there are over 200 childcare providers (including (Private, 
Voluntary & Independent (PVI) and Schools) and 500 childminders across the 
City. High quality childcare provision forms part of a menu of services that 
support improved life chances for children. It is one element of the Council’s 
Early Years Strategy to improve outcomes for children, families and 
communities and for reducing inequalities in the long term. The long term 
benefits of high quality pre-school childcare provision where young children 
are supported to develop and learn has been well documented. In addition, by 
removing barriers to work for parents, childcare also supports the agenda to 
reduce poverty and the number of workless households where young children 
live. Parents cannot take up new job opportunities and progress in their 
careers without affordable, flexible local childcare to help them. Consequently 
childcare plays a crucial role in supporting the goal to reduce child poverty and 
in supporting wider economic development and regeneration.

4.3.2 The proposed key actions to take forward will be; 

  To expand places for 2 year old Free Early Learning (FEL) from 700 to 
a possible 3000 by 2015, in line with Government proposals. It will be 
necessary to keep the childcare sector informed of the criteria for this 
expansion and facilitate development of the market to ensure sufficient 
places.

Page 25



04/12/2012 
 12

  To discontinue the funding of childcare grants to 16 PVI providers and 4 
statutory organisations. Historically these grants were intended to be 
short term for settings to develop their infrastructure; however it is no 
longer equitable or appropriate for the LA to provide funding to 
providers to sustain their childcare businesses.  

  To retain a small pot of funding to be used as and when  necessary for:  

1. Targeted short term fund where individual families face exceptional 
circumstances and require immediate childcare provision.  

2.  Targeted short term projects to deliver priorities. 

  The LA will focus on it’s childcare sufficiency duty in it’s role as market 
facilitator and advisor providing ongoing sufficiency information by:  

i. Assessing demand for childcare at all levels  
ii. Assessing the supply of childcare and  
iii. Analysing the gap between supply and demand  
iv. Publishing a Childcare Sufficiency Assessment document 

(CSA)
v. Keeping the childcare market informed of potential surplus 

places and gaps in provision 

4.4 Improving the Quality of Early Years Provision in all settings 

4.4.1   High quality provision is the best foundation for reducing inequalities between 
young children, because the characteristics of high quality early learning for 
all children are those that enable a focus on meeting the needs of every 
individual child. The local authority will monitor quality improvement across all 
Schools and private, voluntary and independent organisations. The Lead 
Member has given a strong commitment to ensuring that all providers should 
achieve the Quality Mark and focuses on readiness to learn and closing the 
equalities gap at the end of the foundation stage. We will achieve this 
through;

  The development and implementation of a quality improvement 
audit tool covering the 5 main components of the Early Years 
Foundation Stage.

  A review and development of the Sheffield Charter for Quality that 
we would expect every setting to obtain, to enable providers to build 
a wider range of skills, knowledge and competencies which will 
underpin their practice. This will become the Sheffield quality 
badge.

  Investment in early reach and engagement within the redesigned 
children’s centre areas for hard to reach families and children not 
currently attending pre-school. 

Page 26



04/12/2012 
 13

  Monitoring the provision of funding for 2, 3 and 4 year old FEL to 
ensure high quality childcare services are available across Sheffield 
which meets the needs of children, parents and families.  

  Extending services provided to families to include home based care 
for children and families with specific needs and provision which will 
be flexible to families extended working patterns. 

  Ensuring that all early years providers are inclusive and promote 
the role of the Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator (SENCO) 
and Equalities Needs Co-ordinator (ENCO). 

  An early years city-wide network which will influence decisions 
based on research and development, and will provide an 
opportunity to share and disseminate good practice. 

5.  Communication and Consultation 

5.1   There was an extensive consultation with parents and stakeholders in 2011 as 
part of the Early Years Review which informed the redesign proposals.

5.2      A further communications strategy will be developed to include statutory and 
non-statutory consultation and provide information about the content of this 
report and the redesign of early years services. Information and consultation 
sessions will take place with families, providers, service users and employees.  

5.3 Existing children’s centre advisory boards will be brought together to form 17 
proposed local forums which will come together as a city wide forum that 
focuses on business, sufficiency and local needs. 

5.4   Additional forms of communication and consultation will be developed through 
the Community Assemblies, the Parent’s Assembly and the BME Parent’s 
Assembly and local networks. This will include support to families to ensure 
that any impact from the change to services is minimised. 

Page 27



04/12/2012 
 14

6. Proposals 
Areas Proposed Activities Dates

1. Improving the quality of early 
years provision in all settings 

  FEL Code of Practice distributed 

  Quality audit of relevant provision 
identified through OFSTED. 
Begun through rolling 
programme.

  Audit of the Sheffield Charter for 
Quality

Oct 2012 
Nov 2012 

Nov 2012 

2.  Children’s centre areas 
reorganised from 36 areas 
to 17 

  Communicate and consult with 
all key stakeholders regarding 
the reorganised children’s centre 
areas. Fulfil statutory process for 
decommissioning of children’s 
centres

Dec-March 2013 

3.   Existing contracts for 
services will cease on 
March 31st 2013 – see
appendix 3. 

     Implement a procurement 
process to deliver 
redesigned support services 
at the most economically 
advantageous price. 

  Notify existing contractors of 
appropriate notice periods 

  Consult on impact and mitigation 

  Develop service specification for 
family support services 

  Assessment of TUPE 
implications 

  In event TUPE applies embark 
on TUPE consultation process 

  Implement the most appropriate  
procurement process and 
procurement timetable

Dec 2012 

Dec 2012/Jan 2013 
Dec 2012/Mar 2013  

Jan 2013 

Jan 2013 

Apr 2013 

4.  16 Childcare grants 
currently allocated to the 
private voluntary and 
independent (PVI) sector will 
cease on March 31st 2013 

  Consultation on impact and 
mitigation plan 

  Assessment of TUPE 
implications 

  In event TUPE applies embark 
on TUPE consultation process 

Dec 2012 to Jan 2013 

Jan 2013 

5.  Review of childcare 
maintained provision 
managed by the LA

  MER for maintained provision 
launched with full consultation 
process

  Transfer and reduction of  
services

Jan/Feb  2013 

Jan/Feb 2013  

6. Redesigning of early years 
staffing structures to early 
years prevention teams 

  MER and achieving change April 2013 – March 
2014

Page 28



04/12/2012 
 15

7. Financial Implications 

7.1.1 The financial implications reflect the impact of the proposed actions which are 
in response to recent Government changes to early years funding and the 
transition from existing universal services to a more targeted delivery 
approach.

7.1.2 The Early Intervention Grant has reduced by 27% (£6.8m) and will from 2013 
be absorbed within the councils overall revenue grant.

7.1.3  The recent policy shift from central Government will see an increase in the 
provision of 2 year old Free Early Learning (FEL), alongside the 3 & 4 year old 
FEL. Funding in the region of £5m for 2013/14 for Sheffield is anticipated to 
fund the growth targeted for 2-year old expansion. In 2012-13 this funding was 
allocated to Local Authorities through the Early Intervention Grant (£1.395m 
for Sheffield). From 2013-14 funding for this initiative will cease from the Early 
Intervention Grant and will be included within the Dedicated Schools Grant

7.1.4  The Human Resource implications of this report mentions the possibility of 
TUPE transfer between employers and the redesign of internal services. Any 
financial implications of this will have to be quantified, in liaison with Human 
Resources.

Page 29



04/12/2012 
 16

7.1.5 The following table shows the funding proposals;

Early Years Proposal (Net Numbers)

Saving

Expenditure Category 
12-13    
£'000 £0

Resource 
for 13-14 

£'000

Free Early Learning / Childcare (3-4 yr 
olds)  Schools  8,638 0 8,638

Free Early Learning / Childcare (3-4 yr 
olds)  PVIs 9,134 0 9,134

Funding for 2 year olds School/PVIs 1,395 0 
1,395

3,800*

Sub Total Free Entitlement 19,167 0 22,967

The following activities are funded from early years resources 

12,069 -3,578 8,491

Children’s Centres Hosting and Premises 
Contracts - External and New                        
Childcare Grants       
Graduate Leader Funding                              
Childcare Maintained Provision                
Early Years Teams                               
Public Health Activities                          
Quality Improvement Team 

Total Early Years Non-FEL                      12,069 -3,578 8,491

* This figure is based on estimates of 2 Year old places required and these figures are not yet 
confirmed (estimates based on Government guidance). 

7.2 Proposed Actions to Achieve Financial Implications 

 7.2.1 The children’s centre areas will be reorganised from 36 areas to 17. This reflects 
the current usage by families across the city and the potential to minimise 
accommodation and central costs. The current hosting & premises funding will 
cease and a new arrangement will be put in place to ensure improved clarity, 
value for money and use of resources. 

7.2.2 Existing contracts (See appendix 3) are due to end on March 31st 2013 and will 
not be renewed. Services will be reviewed in line with the Council’s priorities 
and linking to a more targeted approach to support the most vulnerable children 
and families. Future procurement will provide opportunities for local providers to 
engage and will improve services to children and families. 

Page 30



04/12/2012 
 17

7.2.3.  Childcare grants currently allocated to 16 private voluntary and independent 
(PVI) organisations and 4 statutory organisations will cease on March 31st 2013 
Historically these grants were intended to be short term for settings to develop 
their infrastructure; however it is no longer equitable or appropriate for the LA to 
provide funding to providers to sustain their childcare businesses. This is in line 
with the Government’s aim to help the voluntary and community sector shift 
from a reliance on central and local council grant based funding to be able to 
compete in open markets.  It will be necessary to ensure the childcare strategy 
for the city focuses on the sufficiency and flexibility of high quality childcare by 
working in partnership with childcare providers and enabling providers to 
maximise the free early learning funding. The pot of emergency sustainability 
funding will also cease on March 31st 2013 and providers will need to make sure 
they develop contingency plans to sustain their businesses. 

7.2.4  The childcare provision maintained by the LA has undergone a review which 
recommends that this will transfer in a staged approach to Schools and PVI 
settings and by 2014/15 the local authority will no longer deliver any childcare 
provision.

7.2.5 The key priority for Sheffield will be to reach and register the most vulnerable 
families within all our children’s centre areas and focus on early intervention. 
Graham Allen’s report Early Intervention: The Next Steps-January 2011 states
that this is an opportunity to make lasting improvements in the lives of our 
children, to forestall many persistent social problems and end their transmission 
from one generation to the next, and to make long-term savings in public 
spending

.

8 Legal Implications 

8.1 Sheffield City Council has a statutory duty under section 6 of the Childcare Act 
2006 to secure sufficient childcare for parents in their area who require 
childcare in order to enable them to take up or remain in work, or to undertake 
education or training.  The ability of councils to meet this duty is governed by 
the resources available to it – with the legislation framing sufficiency in terms 
of what is “reasonably practicable” within the funding available.   In addition, 
section 7 of the Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on the Council to secure 
sufficient free early years provision for eligible children.

8.2 The proposed redesigning of the delivery of children's services in Sheffield 
must ensure that these and the other statutory duties are met. The Council 
must also have regard to any guidance given by the Secretary of State.    

8.3 Local Authorities are also required by the Childcare Act 2006, as amended by 
the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009, to make 
‘sufficient provision’ of children’s centres to meet local need and to review this 
on an on-going basis.   The Council therefore needs to review all the children’s 
centres to ensure they are providing the best possible, high quality provision 
with the funding that is available.

Page 31



04/12/2012 
 18

8.4 There are some potential legal implications from the proposed restructuring of 
children’s centres as this will require the Council to undertake a statutory 
public consultation as part of the exercise. Section 5d of the childcare act 
2006 requires consultation before providing or ceasing to provide children’s 
centres and before making any significant change to the services they provide. 
A possible outcome of this consultation is that contractual and staffing 
adjustments may be required within individual children’s centres.  If 
adjustments are required, then the appropriate legal, procurement and HR 
processes will be followed as necessary.  

8.5 It will be necessary to terminate any grant agreements or contracts in 
accordance with their terms.  If they are due to expire in any event then at an 
appropriate point the providers should be reminded of this and any existing 
provisions implemented.  The TUPE implications and any costs will need to be 
considered.

9  Equality of Opportunity Implications 

9.1   The commitment to fairness, inclusion and social justice is at the heart of the 
Council’s values. We believe that everyone must get a fair and equal chance 
to succeed and this starts in early years. We recognise howewer that some 
people and communities may need extra help to reach their full potential, 
particularly when they face multiple layers of disadvantage. In line with this 
commitment there has been comprehensive consideration given to the 
equality of opportunity implications including those on poverty in the 
implementation of the recommendations from the Review of Early Years and 
multi agency support (0-5) and each proposed activity has been subject to an 
EIA. The aggregate EIA highlights the potential implications of the change 
programme. However the focus of the proposed changes will be on meeting 
the needs of the most vulnerable children and families and so aim to reduce 
persistent inequalities that continue to exist. The role of the Equalities Needs 
Coordinator (ENCO) will be promoted across all early years provision. The EIA 
is attached as appendix 4.

10. Human Resource Implications 

10.1 It is recognised that there will be some changes which will provide concerns 
for staff, it is anticipated that there will be some job losses, some movement 
between establishments and the possibility of TUPE transfer between 
employers which will be considered as part of a TUPE assessment process. 
There are 2 groups of staff potentially affected by these proposals, both SCC 
staff and those employed in the PVI sector.  The MER process only applies to 
SCC staff and TUPE assessment will apply to PVI staff.There will also be a 
requirement for employees work in a more flexible and innovative way. Trade 
Unions will be fully consulted on specific proposals within appropriate 
timescales.

Page 32



04/12/2012 
 19

10.2 The HR Processes for managing change, reduction in numbers and TUPE 
Transfer will be worked through with HR and the full implications for staff 
including redeployment and redundancy options will be fully explored as part 
of this process.

11.  Property Implications 

11.1 As proposals are developed for the reorganisation of the children’s centres, 
there will be property implications which will need to be taken into 
consideration.  These will be identified during the implementation stage and 
managed as appropriate.  It is the Council’s intention to make use of existing 
property assets that are available so as to ensure best value and this will be a 
key consideration during the reorganisation process. 

11.2 Existing capital investments will be utilised to avoid any financial claw back. 

11.3 Reorganisation will take into consideration; 

  Ensuring that the right localities are used for the required activities 

  to optimise the contribution our property assets make to the council’s 
strategic and service objectives; 

  prioritise investment in our operational assets to meet service delivery 
needs;

  to seek innovative value for money solutions for our operational 
property

  to maintain the economic and service delivery values of our property 
investments.

  to reduce the environmental impact of our operational property assets 
and to use our assets to promote sustainable neighbourhoods 

12.  Environmental and Sustainability 

12.1    It is not anticipated that there will be any negative effect on the environment 
caused by these proposals. 

13  Recommendations: 

13.1 Members are asked to approve in principal; 

o The proposed redesign and streamlining of the organisational structure 
in early years services in order to maximise access to high quality early 
learning and health services with the resources available. 

o The proposed action plan for a quality improvement programme for all 
early years settings. 

Page 33



04/12/2012 
 20

o The proposed reorganisation of the management and co-ordination of 
36 Children’s Centres into 17 Children’s Centre Areas 

o The proposal that existing contracts with providers (due to end in March 
2013) are not renewed where services are no longer required or 
funding is not available. At the same time specifications for 
procurement of new targeted services will be developed. 

o The proposed cessation of grants to 16 childcare providers in the 
Private Voluntary and Independent sector and 4 in the statutory sector. 

o The proposed reduction and transfer of the maintained childcare 
provision

Page 34



2 November 

2012

Appendix 1 

The “Core purpose” of sure start Children’s centres

The coalition Government’s Core Purpose for Children’s Centres, taken from 
the Sure Start Statutory Guidance 2012*, is set out in the vision below; 

Government vision:

The Government believes that children’s centres should have a clear core 
purpose, focused on 

Improving outcomes for young children and their families, with a 
particular focus on the most disadvantaged families, in order to reduce 
inequalities in:

  child development and school readiness; 

Supported by improved: 

  parenting aspirations, self esteem and parenting skills; 

 

  Child and family health and life chances 

Co-Produced statement of intent:

The Government has worked with sector leaders to consider evidence and 
good practice, resulting in a co-produced statement of intent about how the 
core purpose can be achieved , by; 

  Assessing need across the local community 

  Providing access to universal early years services in the local area 
including high quality and affordable early years education and 
childcare 

  Co-production of targeted evidence based early interventions for 
families in greatest need, in the context of integrated services 

  Acting as a hub for the local community, building social capital and 
cohesion

  Sharing expertise with other early years setting to improve quality

*http://www.education.gov.uk/childrenandyoungpeople/earlylearningandchildc
are/a00191780/core-purpose-of-sure-start-childrens-centres

Page 35



2 November 
2012

Appendix 2 
New Children’s Centre Areas 

Area Geographical areas covered 

1 Stocksbridge/Deepcar and surroundings 

2 High Green/Chapeltown/Ecclesfield/Grenoside 

3 Parson Cross/Foxhill/Colley 

4 Southey/Shirecliffe/Longley

5 Stannington/Hillsborough/Middlewood

6 Walkley/Netherthorpe/Upperthorpe/Crookes

7 Brightside/Wincobank/Shiregreen 

8 Firth Park/Stubbins 

9 Burngreave/Firvale/Wensley 

10 Darnall/Tinsley/Woodhouse/Handsworth

11 Birley/Hackenthorpe/Beighton/Intake/Charnock/ 
Crystal Peaks 

12 Woodthorpe/Wybourn/Manor

13 Arbourthorne/Norfolk Park 

14 Heeley/Hemsworth/Gleadless Valley/Meersbrook 

15 Lowedges/Batemoor/Jordanthorpe/Norton/Greenhill/Woodseats

16 Sharrow/Broomhall/Nether Edge 

17 Totley Beauchief/Bradway/Ecclesall/Crosspool/ 
Fulwood 

Page 36



2 November 

2012

Appendix 3 

Current Contracting Arrangements

Children’s Centre Hosting and 
Premises funding 

  18 school sites host children’s 
centre activities 

  5 PVI/other hosts 

Existing Contracts 

Provider Forums/Advice 
Services

  Pre-school Learning Alliance (PLA), 

  Out of School Network (OSN),  

  Sheffield Information Link (SIL),  

  National Day Nursery Association 
(NDNA),

  Cultural Mentoring 

 Community Legal Advice Service for 
South Yorkshire (CLASSY)

Delivery of children’s centre co-
ordination and core offer 

  Action For Children,  

  NHS,  

  Manor Castle Development Trust 

Childcare subsidy grants 

  20 settings in receipt of grants  

  14 Voluntary/Community 

  2 Private 

  3 Schools 

  1 NHS 

Support Services 

  Family Support and Parenting 
Support commissioned through a 
number of organisations 

NHS Agreements 

  Speech and Language, 

   Family Nurse Partnership  

   Breast-feeding initiative 

Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 47



P
age 48

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
 

 
 

 
Subject: Call-In of Cabinet Decision on the Home to School 

Transport Policy 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: David Campbell-Molloy, Policy Officer (Scrutiny)   
 0114 27 35065 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:   

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision  x 

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee  

Other  

 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
1. Background  
 
1.1 The Executive Director, Children Young People and Families submitted 

a report to Cabinet on 12th December 2012, providing a summary of the 
responses to the consultation process on the proposal to withdraw the 
discretionary element of free transport that is currently approved for 
attendance at denominational schools with effect from September 2013. 
The report is attached at appendix A. 

 
1.2 The Cabinet agreed to withdraw all current provision for discretionary 
 transport with effect from September 2013, including the withdrawal of 
 passes for pupils who are currently in receipt of them under the current 
 policy. The reasons for the decision were as follows:  
 
 (a)   the current provision to fund denominational transport is  
  discretionary. Under the current economic climate there is an 
  urgent necessity to explore all areas of potential savings and 
  efficiency. 
 
 (b)   the proposed change in policy would also ensure that all children 
  are treated more equitably. Under current arrangements a child 
  may receive a free bus pass to attend a Catholic School even 

Report to Children, Young People and Family 
Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 

Committee 
24 January 2013  

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



 2

  though that may not be their nearest school. If a non-Catholic 
  student wishes to attend an out of catchment area school that it 
  beyond the statutory walking distance they are not provided with 
  free transport. 
 
1.3 As per Part 4, section 16 of Sheffield City Council’s Constitution, this 

decision has been called in, preventing implementation of the decision 
until it has been considered by the relevant Scrutiny Committee.  

 
1.4 The Call-In notice is attached at appendix B, and asks the Children, 

Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee to consider this issue for the following reasons: 

 

• The impact on pupils already on courses at Notre Dame and All 
Saints, and 

• The potential impact on other secondary schools from in-year 
transfers 

 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
2 The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
 

As per the Scrutiny Procedure Rules, scrutinise the decision made by 
Cabinet and take one of the following courses of action: 
 
(a) refer the decision back to the Cabinet for reconsideration in the 

light of recommendations from the Committee; 
 
(b) request that the decision be deferred until the Scrutiny Committee 

has considered relevant issues and made recommendations to 
Cabinet; 

 
(c) take no action in relation to the called-in decision but consider 

whether issues arising from the call-in need to be added to the 
work programme of an existing Scrutiny Committee;  

 
(d) if, but only if (having taken the advice of the Monitoring Officer 

and/or the Chief Finance Officer), the Committee determines that 
the decision is wholly or partly outside the Budget and Policy 
Framework, refer the matter, with any recommendations, to the 
Council after following the procedures in the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules 

 
 

_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
Report of the Executive Director, Children Young People and Families, to 
Cabinet on the 12th December 2012 (attached) 
Call-in Notice (attached) 
 
Category of Report: OPEN  

Page 50



SHEFFIELD CITY COUNCIL 
Cabinet Report 

Report of: Jayne Ludlam, Executive Director, Children, Young 
People and Families 

______________________________________________________________ 

Date:    12 December 2012 
______________________________________________________________ 

Subject:   Home to School Transport Policy 
______________________________________________________________ 

Author of Report:  John Bigley, Manager, Admissions & Access 
______________________________________________________________ 

Summary: This report provides a summary of the responses to the 
consultation process on the proposal to withdraw the discretionary element of 
free transport that is currently approved for attendance at denominational 
schools with effect from September 2013.  The Council consulted upon two 
proposals.  First to withdraw all discretionary provision from September 2013 and 
second to withdraw provision on a year by year basis from September 2013. 
______________________________________________________________ 

Reasons for Recommendations: 

The current provision to fund denominational transport is discretionary.  Under 
the current economic climate there is an urgent necessity to explore all areas of 
potential savings and efficiency. 

The proposed change in policy would also ensure that all children are treated 
more equitably.  Under current arrangements a child may receive a free bus pass 
to attend a Catholic School even though that may not be their nearest school.  If 
a non-Catholic student wishes to attend an out of catchment area school that is 
beyond the statutory walking distance they are not provided with free transport. 

Recommendations: To receive the report and consider options outlined at 
Section 7.

______________________________________________________________ 

Background Papers: Consultation Document  

Page 51



Category of Report: OPEN

If Closed add – ‘Not for publication because it contains exempt information 
under Paragraph… of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended).’

* Delete as appropriate 

Page 52



Statutory and Council Policy Checklist 

Financial Implications 

YES Cleared by: 

Legal Implications 

YES Cleared by: Nadine Wynter 

Equality of Opportunity Implications

YES Cleared by: Bashir Khan 

Tackling Health Inequalities Implications 

YES/NO

Human rights Implications

YES/NO:

Environmental and Sustainability implications 

YES/NO

Economic impact 

YES/NO

Community safety implications 

YES/NO

Human resources implications 

YES/NO

Property implications 

YES/NO

Area(s) affected 

ALL

Relevant Cabinet Portfolio Leader 

Cllr. Jackie Drayton 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee if decision called in 

Children, Young People and Families  

Is the item a matter which is reserved for approval by the City Council?    

NO

Press release 

YES/NO

Page 53



Children & Young People Cabinet Member Portfolio 

REPORT TITLE HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY 

1.0 SUMMARY

1.1

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

1.1.5

1.1.6

This proposal is in response to the urgent requirement to reduce 
expenditure in light of the budget settlement from the Coalition 
Government for the 2013/14 financial year and beyond. 

If implemented the proposal to withdraw discretionary transport with 
effect from September 2013/14 would save the Authority expenditure of 
approximately £250K each year. 

Sheffield City Council’s Home to School Transport Policy sets out the 
circumstances in which it will provide free transport, in the form of a bus 
pass,  to assist pupils to get to School. Under the current budgetary 
pressures and in order to ensure efficiency and equity in its use of 
resources, the Council has decided that it would like to consider making 
changes to the discretionary part of the policy to be brought in for the 
2013/14 school year starting in September 2013.

The proposal is to withdraw any free bus pass that is currently offered 
under the provisions of the policy for attendance at a denominational 
school.

Many other Authorities have or will be withdrawing the provision of free 
bus passes for attendance at denominational schools for the same 
reasons.  This includes the other South Yorkshire Authorities Barnsley, 
Doncaster and Rotherham. 

Families who meet specific requirements have a statutory entitlement to 
free transport if they wish to attend a school on grounds of religion or 
belief that is between 2 and 15 miles from their home address.  This 
entitlement is unaffected by this proposal. 

2.0 WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR SHEFFIELD PEOPLE 

2.1 This proposed amendment does not impact on a parent’s right to apply 
for their child to attend a denominational school.  Any such application 
will be considered under the individual school’s admission policy. 

2.1.2 In reviewing discretionary transport that is currently provided it is clear 
that the current policy and practices do not treat all pupils equally: some 
pupils receive free transport to attend their preferred school and others 
do not. Parents who want a denominational education for their child can 
get help with transport whereas those who want a school for a particular 
specialism do not. 

Page 54



3.0 OUTCOME AND SUSTAINABILITY 

3.1.1 The current policy is not fair or equitable.  The fact that the Council only 
funds Catholic children to attend Catholic schools means that it could be 
open to challenge from parents of other faiths. 

3.1.2 At a time when the Council is having to make significant cuts to the 
services it provides, including to the most vulnerable in our community, 
this change of policy will enable the Authority to re-direct funds to other 
areas that have a far greater need. 

4.0 MAIN BODY OF THE REPORT 

Background 
4.1.1 The legislation which places a duty on the local authority to provide free 

home to school transport is contained principally in the Education Act 
1996 as amended by later legislation including the Education Act 2002 
and the Education and Inspections Act 2006.  Local authorities have a 
duty to provide free home to school transport for eligible children of 
compulsory school age living in the local authority’s area.  There is no 
legal obligation to provide free transport for children who are below or 
above compulsory school age.  Compulsory school age is defined in 
section 8 of the Education Act 1996 and in associated regulations.

4.1.2 Section 508B of the 1996 Act sets out the duty to provide free travel 
arrangements for ‘eligible children’ to ‘qualifying schools’  The Authority 
will continue to make arrangements for free transport where there is a 
statutory duty to do so. Statutory criteria are: 

  Children with special education needs who have a disability or 
mobility problem. 

  Children who live within the statutory walking distance to school, 
however there is no suitable available route. 

The statutory walking distances are: 
(a) for a child under the age of 8 years - 2 miles; 
(b) for a child aged 8 years and over - 3 miles. 

  Children who live outside the statutory walking distances and no 
suitable school place is available nearer to their home. 

  Children entitled to free school meals, or whose parents are in receipt 
of their maximum level of Working Tax Credit. 

Page 55



4.1.3 Section 509AD of the 1996 Act places a duty on local authorities in 
fulfilling their duties in relation to travel, to have regard to the wish of the 
parent for their child to attend a school on the grounds of the parent’s 
religion or belief.  Although Section 509AD states that “a local authority 
in England must have regard, amongst other things …………. to the 
parents’ religion or belief based on preference,”  arrangements for 
transport under this section are discretionary and need not be 
implemented or can be discontinued. 

Any Local Authority therefore has the right to discontinue such 
discretionary provision. 

4.1.4 The proposal would withdraw discretionary free transport to 
denominational schools with effect from September 2013. 

4.2 Outcomes from the Consultation 

4.2.1

4.2.2

The consultation exercise was conducted between 29 October and 4 
December 2012. 

There were a total of 326 responses received, broken down as follows: 

Against the proposal 

Parents             308 
Schools/Governors                 6 
Secondary Headteachers       All 
Sheffield Hallam Diocese       1 

In support of the proposal 

Parents                          10 
Schools/Governors                 1 

4.3

4.3.1

Summary of Key Points Raised in the Consultation: 

Parents against the proposal: 

Full responses are too numerous to provide in the main body of the 
report but are provided for Cabinet Members in the Leader’s Office.  A 
summary of the main themes raised by respondents is provided below in 
their own words.  In each case officer comments and perspectives are 
given in italics below the view of respondents. 

Issue 1: Location of the two Catholic Schools 

The fact that both Catholic Secondary schools are located where they 
are means that many families have no option but to travel long distances 
to access them.  This is not a fault of parents or children. 

Page 56



The Local Authority acknowledges this point but sees the choice of a 
Catholic school as a matter of parental preference not necessity. The
importance for parents of the decision about a school place is not 
underestimated..  That is why parents have been contacted directly and 
the deadline for applications for Y7 has been extended so as to ensure 
that they do not suffer any detriment and also why secondary 
Headteachers have been asked to be responsive and sensitive to any 
approaches by families to visit.

Issue 2:   Article 2 of the European Convention of Human Rights 
and   other Legal Challenge 

The First Protocol of the European Convention of Human Rights 
reinforce the principle that no child shall be denied the right to education 
in accordance with the wishes of parents especially with regard to their 
own philosophical and religious conventions. 

We would respectfully point out that we were not consulted on this 
proposal through a fair or reasonable timeframe.  The proposal is 
restrictive in that it may amount to discrimination and moreover a serious 
breach of the rights of ourselves and more seriously the rights of our 
children.  By removing bus subsidies the choice for my family to elect for 
our children to have a religious education may be hindered or removed 
due to a lack of ability to afford the necessary transport costs. 

I believe that the actions of the local government concerning this matter 
ought to be widely publicized for the contentiousness of its demands at 
both local and national level. 

Article 2 states: 

“No person shall be denied the right to education. In the exercise of any 
functions which it assumes in relation to education and to teaching, the 
State shall respect the right of parents to ensure such education and 
teaching in conformity with their own religions and philosophical 
convictions.” 

This confirms a right to education, it does not confirm a guarantee to 
study at a specific school.  The proposal to withdraw free transport does 
not prevent any parent from applying for and attending a voluntary aided 
school.

Issue 3: Removing Parental Choice 

By removing the subsidy for families to go to their chosen school the 
Local Authority are basically removing the choice for many families as 
they will not be able to afford to travel.  No Catholic child should be 
denied the opportunity of a Catholic education solely because their 
parents cannot afford transport costs. 

Page 57



Entitlement to statutory free transport would remain for families who meet 
the “Low Income” definition (children entitled to free school meals, or 
whose parents are in receipt of the maximum level of Working Tax 
Credit).  Children whose parents wish them to attend non denominational 
schools that are more than 3 miles from their home address do not 
receive free transport.  This proposal would make the current system 
more equitable.  

Issue 4: The Consultation Period is Invalid 

You may wish to note that the consultation period is invalid.  It should 
have started much earlier as students were applying for places for 
September 2013 so that they could make an informed choice.  The 
launch date was 29 October but your letters were posted on this date.
This means that we received the letters after the consultation period had 
begun.

The consultation timescale is unrealistic and seems to have been 
deliberately introduced to prevent any meaningful consultation from 
taking place.  Other Authorities have considered similar proposals, taking 
a year for their deliberations and fully involving all stakeholders.  Why 
does Sheffield introduce this proposal at the start of the half term break 
with such a short timescale? 

It is acknowledged that the consultation should have ideally taken place 
before parents were asked to make applications for places in September 
2013.  The closing date for applications was 31 October 2012.  However 
all parents who have submitted a preference for a Catholic secondary 
school have been contacted directly to make them aware of the 
consultation and to allow them to comment.. .  In addition, the 
consultation has been extended to 4 December, allowing for 26 working 
days of consultation in total.  If the proposed withdrawal of free transport 
is to be implemented, parents will have the opportunity to amend their 
application in light of the new policy 

Issue 5: Council Policy, Social and Financial Impact 

The proposal is at odds with the Local Authority and Government’s desire 
to improve parental choice and accessibility.  For Catholic children from 
deprived areas seeking access to education for their children the 
proposed withdrawal of services runs against this commitment.  The 
Authority’s stance may create schools that are elitist, i.e. the Catholic 
schools serve only those families who can afford to send their families 
there.

This proposal goes against the City Council’s environmental targets as it 
will force more families into using their cars to transport their children to 
school.

Page 58



I have three children at Notre Dame.  If I had to pay for transport for all 
three children it would cost £7.20 a day, £36 a week, £144 a month and 
£2000 a year. 

The Authority will continue to provide free bus passes to those who 
qualify under the low income criteria. It is acknowledged that there will be 
financial implications for families that do not qualify just as there currently 
is for families of other faiths who wish to attend a church school because 
of their beliefs but do not receive free transport. This also applies to any 
parent applying for a non-catchment school which is more than 3 miles 
away on the grounds of the school specialism. 

Issue 6:  The Proposal is Discriminatory 

This is another attack on the rights of parents to choose a school with a 
religious character.  The proposal implicitly suggests that you should 
choose your local community school.  The letter from the Authority states 
that anyone applying for a Catholic School may wish to reconsider their 
preferences in light of any possible change in policy.  This appears to be 
blatant discrimination. 

Parents have been advised of the consultation and if the provision is 
withdrawn will have the opportunity to change their preference if transport 
was one of the main reasons for their decision.  Parents ultimately still 
have the right to apply for whichever schools they wish. 

Issue 7: Proposed Scale of Implementation 

The Local Authority is proposing a change for September 2013 for the 
incoming Year 7 but is also suggesting they are looking at extending the 
proposal to all year groups.  This means that parents/carers with children 
already at our schools will need to fund transport costs that they were not 
aware of when they originally applied. 

This issue has been raised by a number of parents of children already in 
receipt of passes.  The Authority will carefully consider all views received 
in relation to this aspect of the proposal.

Issue 8: Expand Provision of Free Transport 

In my opinion ALL children should receive free transport from home to 
school.  This would reduce the number of cars on the roads doing the 
“school run” thereby reducing congestion in the rush hour and it would 
educate our younger generation in public transport use.  I am aware that 
this is a proposal that would demand an increase not decrease in funding 
but it is I feel something that should be given consideration before any 
reductions in help with transport costs are made. 

Page 59



The reason that the Authority is consulting about the withdrawal of 
discretionary passes is the need to review all Council Services under the 
current budget pressures.  Under the current financial climate the 
Authority could not therefore fund transport for all children.   

Issue 9: Impact on low income families 

It will be those who are most in need who are hit hardest. i.e. families 
with an income just high enough to ensure that they are not entitled to 
statutory benefits and subsidies.  Typically a family with two children will 
have to find over £400 a year. 

I feel that Sheffield Council is once again rewarding people who don’t 
work and don’t pay their way. 

It is acknowledged that this proposal would require some families to fund 
their own transport to attend a denominational school.  This is no 
different to the position for many other families in the city who choose to 
attend schools other than their catchment school.   

Issue 10: Impact on Other Schools 

I would be interested to know if any calculations have been undertaken 
to establish the knock on effects on admissions to other Sheffield 
schools.  Children who may no longer be in a position to afford to travel 
to a faith school will presumably take a place at a different local school 
therefore displacing a child who will in turn be required to travel to a 
different school further away. 

If the proposal is implemented all parents would have the right to apply 
for other schools if the cost of transport proved to be a barrier.  There can 
not however be any guarantees of places at alternative schools as that 
will be dependent on the availability of places.

Issue 11:  Impact on Deprived areas 

For Catholic children from more deprived areas seeking to access 
education for their children the proposed withdrawal of this service runs 
against the commitment to improving parental choice and access.  The 
Authority’s stance may create schools that are elitist, i.e. serving only 
families who can afford to send their children there. 

As confirmed in issue 5 above there would be no change in the statutory 
provision for families meeting the low income criteria.   

Issue 12:  Impact on Children already receiving passes 

If we had realised that there could be a possibility that the free transport 
to school may not continue, then very sadly we would have had to make 

Page 60



4.3.2

4.3.3

a very real decision and informed choice as to whether or not we could 
even afford to send our children to a catholic school.  It would now be 
very unfair and cruel to my children to have to remove the girls from 
Notre Dame after they are both so happy and settled at school. 

The Authority acknowledges the possibility that some families may feel 
that they have to transfer school due to the cost of transport.

Issue 13:  Impact on environment 

This proposal would inevitably lead to a greater number of car journeys 
during rush hour as travel by car will be far cheaper for many families.  
This will not only cause more congestion but is bound to have a 
detrimental effect on the safety of pupils walking to school.  This seems 
quite ironic as Sheffield City Council is constantly trying to encourage 
people to use public transport and leave their cars at home. 

It is anticipated that the current bus services will remain place.  There 
should not be any requirement for parents to take their children to 
schools in their car.

Issue 14: This proposal is too late for those applying for Year 7 
places in September 2013 

The Authority does not underestimate the importance of this decision for 
parents.  That is why we have ensured that parents in this position have 
been contacted directly and have extended the deadline for application 
so as to ensure that they do not suffer any detriment and also why we 
have asked secondary Headteachers to be responsive and sensitive to 
any approaches by families to visit 

Schools & Governors against the proposal

Responses against the proposal were received from Notre Dame 
Catholic High School, St Marie’s Catholic Primary School, Sacred Heart 
Catholic Primary School and 1 Governor from Notre dame and 1 
Governor from St Ann’s Catholic Primary School.

The reasons for opposing the proposal are largely the same as those 
summarised above in section 4.3.1.

A letter in support of the objection raised by All Saints and Notre Dame 
schools has been submitted and signed by all Secondary 
Headteachers.

The full responses are available in the Leaders Office for Cabinet 
Members

Page 61



4.3.4

4.3.5

Sheffield Hallam Diocese 

Sheffield Hallam Diocese objects to the proposal.  The Diocese raises 
many of the concerns identified in 4.3.1.  The full response is available in 
the Leaders Office for Cabinet members.  Additional concerns are 
summarised as follows:

The Diocese of Hallam calls on Sheffield City Council to abandon any 
plans that would result in an end to the funding of ‘discretionary’ transport 
for Catholic students attending Catholic schools. The Council should 
acknowledge the fact that Catholic schools have been a key partner in 
the local school sector over many years, that this position is enshrined in 
law and that Sheffield City Council has a duty to enable Catholic children 
to attend their nearest Catholic school. The removal of subsidised 
transport seriously damages this partnership arrangement and the 
historical tradition on which it was based.  

The Diocese believes that no Catholic child should be denied a Catholic 
education because their parents cannot fund transport. 

The Diocese questions the legality of the proposal under Article 2 of the 
European Convention on Human Rights. 

There is a concern about the impact on Catholic Schools longer term if 
large Catholic families can no longer afford to send their children to 
Catholic Schools. 

There is concern about the environmental impact if families resort to 
transporting children by car as a consequence of being unable to fund 
transport by bus. 

In support of the proposal 

Responses in favour of the proposal were received from parents and a 
Governor.

I think that the zero bus pass system should be either made available to 
all children attending a Catholic School or none at all (apart from children 
on free school meals).  My children are C of E and attend a Catholic 
school due to our Christian faith.  As you are aware they do not receive a 
free bus pass.  A much fairer system would treat all pupils equally 
regardless of their faith. 

I would agree with the comments in the consultation document regarding 
the unfairness of the current system. I am personally aware of some who 
get a pass who live closer to the school than those who don’t.  I also 
think that at times when cuts are being made to important services such 
as libraries that this is one cost that the Council should not cover.  I think 
only those who cannot afford transport costs should get help but those 
that can afford it should not.  I think your intention to protect families on 

Page 62



4.3.6

low income is sound.  I expect that you will get a lot of negative feedback 
so thought it important you should get some support. 

I think it would make sense to cut the amount of money it costs the LEA 
to provide free home to school transport.  I say this as a parent who has 
two children attending a church school and chair of Governors at 
Emmaus Primary School.  I would definitely prefer funds to be spent on 
Education and not bus fares. 

I have only recently become aware that Catholic children receive this 
benefit while non-catholic children have to pay for bus fares.  It seems a 
rule that is not explained to parents and is almost kept quiet about. This 
discriminates against non-Catholics.

I know of a number of families who 'go through the process' of becoming 
a Catholic but never attend church or actively 'practice' the catholic ways. 
 They do this to secure a place at a Catholic school simply because they 
are outstanding schools as deemed by OFSTED. I have also been told 
by parents that they have moved primary schools to increase their 
chance of getting into a catholic secondary school. Therefore not all 
pupils at Catholic schools go there for religious reasons but to simply to 
ensure their children get the best education on offer.  This needs to be 
addressed.  

I would imagine that the people affected will voice their opinions but fear 
the ones that do not receive benefit will not be so inclined to do so. I 
would have to question, has every council tax payer been sent a letter to 
voice their opinions or just parents of children at catholic schools.

I think families on low income regardless of religion should be entitled 
free transport and this should continue. 
It should also be noted that the Council only consulted with parents of 
children who currently attend a denominational school.  It did not consult 
with the wider population.  Consequently the majority of responses were 
heavily opposed to any change to the current arrangements, this is to be 
expected.

The Sheffield Star covered this issue on 23 November.  In response to 
the article there were a significant number of responses from the wider 
population that were in support of the proposal. 

Schools & Governors in favour of the proposal

A Governor from a Catholic School: 

I do not feel that I can support the Diocesan position on this.  I believe 
that parents who select particular schools, in this case Catholic 
schools, have to accept that this choice may come with certain conditions 
such as buying particular uniforms, contribution to Diocesan Building 
Fund, support of the Catholic ethos.  

Page 63



I do not think it is the Local Authority's responsibility to subsidise travel in 
this way.  If there are hardship issues which need to be considered then I 
think this is down to the churches supporting these Catholic families and 
the Catholic schools themselves to look for solutions. 

As the Catholic High Schools are both academies, I am sure that they 
would be able to fine funds to support these families if they so wished. 

Full responses are provided in the Leaders Office for Cabinet Members. 

4.4

4.4.1

Financial Implications 

The cost of providing free transport to denominational schools for the 
2011/12 academic year was £275K.  Of this £21K was statutory provision 
for children from Low Income families.  Net discretionary expenditure was 
therefore £254K.  This represents a significant saving in terms of the 
overall budget position for the Council which Members must consider in 
light of the need to find a further £50M of savings in 2013/14. 

4.5

4.5.1

4.5.2

4.5.3

4.5.4

Legal Implications 

As stated in earlier paragraphs of this report, the Council has 
responsibilities under section 508B of the Education Act 1996 to provide 
free transport to “eligible” children to the nearest “qualifying” school.
Currently the Council also provides support on a discretionary basis, 
under sections 508C and 509AD of the 1996 Act, to some pupils that 
attend denominational schools but who are not eligible under section 
508B.

Section 29 of the Equality Act 2010 requires the Council to have due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and to promote equality of 
opportunity between different protected groups.  However the Equality 
Act does not apply to the provision of transport on faith grounds as the 
discrimination provisions on the grounds of age and religion or belief do 
not extend to transport arrangements as stated in paragraph 11 of part II 
of part 2 of Schedule 3.

In light of the above statutory provisions the Council can lawfully decide 
either to withdraw the discretionary transport incrementally or to withdraw 
the support completely.

However before making any changes to the current discretionary 
arrangements, proper consideration must be given to the consultation 
and equalities impact assessment provided for in this report.  The 
Council will also take account of the requirements of disabled parents 
and children in the application of the changes and make reasonable 
adjustments where required by individual circumstances.

Page 64



4.6 Equalities Implications 
4.6.1 An Equalities Impact assessment has been carried out. 

5.0 REASONS FOR THE PROPOSAL 

5.1.1 The current provision to fund denominational transport is discretionary.
Under the current economic climate the Authority has a duty to explore 
all areas of potential savings and efficiency. 

5.1.2 The proposed change in policy would also ensure that all children are 
treated more equitably.  Under current arrangements a child may receive 
a free bus pass to attend a Catholic School even though that may not be 
their nearest school.  If a non-Catholic student wishes to attend an out of 
catchment area school that is beyond the statutory walking distance they 
will not be provided with free transport. 

6.0 REASONS FOR EXEMPTION (if a Closed report)

6.1 None

7.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1.1 This report is to inform the Cabinet of the outcome of the consultation 
process.  Cabinet is asked to make a decision based on the following 
options:

i) To retain the current provision for funding discretionary transport 
for attendance at denominational schools. 

ii) To withdraw current provision for funding discretionary transport 
on a phased basis commencing with entry to Reception and Year 
7 in September 2013 and each subsequent year.  Under this 
option pupils currently receiving a pass under discretionary 
criteria would continue to receive it until they finish at their current 
school.

iii) To withdraw all current provision for discretionary transport with 
effect from September 2013.  This would include the withdrawal 
of passes for pupils who are currently in receipt of them under the 
current policy. 

Author  Jayne Ludlam 
Job Title Executive Director, Children, Young People and Families
Date  5 December 2012. 

Page 65



Sheffield City Council 
Equality Impact Assessment 

Guidance for completing this form is available on the intranet
Help is also available by selecting the grey area and pressing the F1 key 

Name of policy/project/decision: Home to School Transport 

Status of policy/project/decision: Amendment 

Name of person(s) writing EIA: John Bigley 

Date: 25 October 2012    Service: Inclusion and Learning Services 

Portfolio: Children, Young People and Families 

What are the brief aims of the policy/project/decision? To revise our Home to School 
Transport Policy to remove the discretionary provision for denominational transport . 
Are there any potential Council staffing implications, include workforce diversity? No 

Under the Public Sector Equality Duty, we have to pay due regard to: “Eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations.” More information is available on the council website

Areas of possible 
impact

Impact Impact
level

Explanation and evidence
(Details of data, reports, feedback or 
consultations. This should be proportionate to the 
impact.)

Age None Low

Disability None Low Any child that has a disability that requires them to 
receive assisted transport to and from school would 
not be affected by this proposal.  The statutory duty 
on the Council in such circumstances would remain. 

Pregnancy/maternity None Low

Race None Low

Religion/belief Negative High Currently in Sheffield free denominational transport is 
predominantly accessed by Catholic children as the 
only denominational secondary schools in Sheffield 
are Catholic.  Families of other faiths could potentially 
see this as unequal and unfair, which could leave the 
Council open to claims for transport support for 
families to access other faith provision in 
neighbouring authorities.  No children of other faiths 
receive free transport for attendance at their preferred 
schools in Sheffield unless they meet the statutory 
walking distance requirements.  The proposed 
changes would ensure that all children and families 
are treated equally with regard to home to school 
transport.

The proposed changes would directly impact on a 
limited number of families.  Just over 1000 pupils 
currently receive free bus passes to attend 
denominational secondary schools, approximately 3% 
of the whole secondary school population.   Page 66



Areas of possible 
impact

Impact Impact 
level

Explanation and evidence
(Details of data, reports, feedback or 
consultations. This should be proportionate to the 
impact.)

The proposed change will have no impact on families 
who meet the statutory “low income” criteria as the 
statutory requirement to provide free transport on 
grounds of religion or belief remains.    

Sex None Low

Sexual orientation None Low

Gender
reassignment

None Low

Financial inclusion, 
poverty, social 
justice cohesion or 
carers

Negative Medium The proposed change will affect the Catholic 
community in particular, particularly with regard to 
their ability to access a place at a Catholic if that is 
their preference, or their expectation. . However, there 
will be no impact on families that meet the statutory 
“low income” definition.  i.e. where the child is eligible 
for Free School Meals or the family is in receipt of the 
Higher rate of Working Tax Credit .  Families meeting 
this criteria will still qualify for free transport on the 
grounds of religion and belief. 

There is a financial impact upon families that currently 
receive free transport, if it were to be withdrawn. 

However, the proposal to withdraw the discretionary 
element of this provision, will align our policy to mirror 
the arrangements to those where a parent who 
expresses their preference for their child to attend a 
non-catchment community school.  They do not 
qualify for free transport.   

Any child that no longer qualifies for a free pass may 
still use the dedicated busses and pay the minimum 
fare, currently 60p a journey. 

Families who are currently in receipt of free transport 
may be forced to consider the current school 
placement of their child if they cannot afford to pay for 
transport.  This may be perceived as divisive and 
creating social division whereby only those that can 
afford to pay for transport can attend denominational 
schools.

Voluntary, 
community and faith 
sector

Negative High There are some direct implications for Catholic and 
Church of England schools, families and both 
Diocesean Bodies.  There may be a perception of 
discrimination against families wishing to attend 
schools on grounds of religion or belief.   

The Diocese of Hallam and Notre Dame School have 
explained that their understanding of the organisation 
of Catholic provision in the city was based on an 

Version 2.0 (November 2011) 
Page 67



Areas of possible 
impact

Impact Impact 
level

Explanation and evidence
(Details of data, reports, feedback or 
consultations. This should be proportionate to the 
impact.)

expectation that Catholic pupils attending the Catholic 
primaries would be able to transfer to the Catholic 
secondary schools.  They make the point that if the 
free bus passes were withdrawn, it would be unequal 
for those Catholic families living three miles or more 
from a Catholic secondary school because they would 
not have zero fare bus pass to assist with their travel 
to secondary.  Their view is that this would result in a 
narrower social intake at the Catholic schools which 
are located closer to the more affluent residential 
areas of Sheffield. 

Families with children already attending a 
denominational school applied for places under the 
current policy criteria.  Many Catholic families would 
therefore be faced with a change in provision from 
that available at the time they applied to attend the 
school in the first year.  One impact of this proposal 
could be that some Catholic families can no longer 
afford to send their children to a Catholic School. 

Any child that does no longer qualify for a free pass 
may still use the dedicated busses and pay the 
minimum fare, currently 60p a journey. 

Other/additional: -Select- -Select-

Other/additional: -Select- -Select-

Other/additional: -Select- -Select-

Overall summary of possible impact (to be used on EMT, cabinet reports etc): Sheffield 

City Council is reviewing all areas of discretionary expenditure as areas for possible savings. 

This proposal is following the approach already taken by many local authorities. Within South 

Yorkshire Barnsley has already adopted a similar policy with Doncaster and Rotherham 

currently consulting on similar arrangements. 

If you have identified significant change, med or high negative outcomes, you must complete 
the action plan. 

Review date:         Reference number:       

Entered on Qtier:   Action plan needed: -Select- 

Approved (Lead Manager): Alena Prentice Date: 26 October 2012 

Approved (EIA Lead person for Portfolio): Bashir Khan  Date: 26 October 2012 

Version 2.0 (November 2011) 
Page 68



Version 2.0 (November 2011) 

Risk rating: High 

Action plan 

Area of impact Action and mitigation Lead, timescale and how it 
will be monitored/reviewed 

Religion/belief Consult on proposed withdrawal of 
discretionary denominational transport 

29 October – 4 December 2012 

Religion/belief Submit responses and report to Cabinet 12 December 2012 

Religion/belief Notify prospective parents prior to their 
making application for school places in the 
2013/14 academic year.  Reception and Year 
7

13 December 2012 

Religion/belief Implement new arrangements September 2013 

-Select-

-Select-

-Select-

-Select-

-Select-

-Select-

-Select-

-Select-

Approved (Lead Manager): Alena Prentice Date: 26 October 2012 

Approved (EIA Lead Officer for Portfolio): Bashir Khan  Date: 26 October 2012 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 71



P
age 72

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Executive Director Children Young People and Families 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2011-12 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Sue Fiennes, Independent Chair, SSCB 
 
 Trevor Owen, Senior Manager, Safeguarding Children 

Service/Independent Reviewing Service   
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
The Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report is intended to be informative 
about the work of the SSCB and to make the Board accountable to child 
protection professionals, to those who fund and support safeguarding services, 
to service users, to elected members and the public of Sheffield. 
__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report ���� 

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee ���� 

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
 

• Receive the Report and note its content 

• Comment on and/or seek clarification of any issues raised 
___________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
List any background documents (e.g. research studies, reports) used to write 
the report.  Remember that by listing documents people could request a copy.    
 
Category of Report: OPEN    
 

Report to Children and Young 
People Scrutiny & Policy 
Development Committee 

Insert date  

Agenda Item 9

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Call-in of the Cabinet Decision on the Redesign of the Early Years Service
	Item 7a - Early years cabinet report
	Item 7b - Early Years Call in Notice

	8 Call-in of the Cabinet Decision on the Home to School Transport Policy
	Item 8a - 18_-_Home_to_School_Transport_Combined1
	Item 8b - Home to School Call-in Notice

	9 Annual Safeguarding Report
	Item 9a - Adult Safeguarding Report


